FILED COURT OF APPEALS (NVISION II

No.95577.8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II No: 47672-0-II

TIMOTHY NELSON

Plaintiff/Petitioner

VS.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF

WASHINGTON

Defendant/Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CARL A. TAYLOR LOPEZ Lopez & Fantel, Inc., P.S. 2292 W. Commodore Way, Suite 200 Seattle, WA 98199 Tel: (206) 322-5200

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
A. Is an issue of substantial public interest created where the Court of Appeals upholds the Department of Labor & Industries interpretation of RCW 51.24.060 that, in all cases involving injured workers bringing actions against multiple third parties, the department only has to share in costs directly related to the third party agaisnt whom recovery is obtained to the exclusion of other costs incurred by the injured worker in the same litigation?
B. RCW 51.24.060 states the Department of Labor & Industries is to proportionately share in costs incurred by an injured worker pursuing claims against third parties when calculating its lien against any recovery. The department has unilaterally restricted its cost participation in all cases involving multiple third party defendants to only those costs directly related to the third party against whom recovery is obtained. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to uphold an interpretation of the statute which adds limiting language not present in the statute to the financial detriment of the injured worker?
C. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to give deference to the Department of Labor & Industries' interpretation of allowable litigation costs where that is not within its special expertise?
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2

V. ARGUMENT6
A. The department does not have the discretion under RCW 51.24.060 to unilaterally determine which costs of litigation are allowable
B. The department is not permitted to interpret RCW 51.24.060 in a way that adds lanaguge to the statute detrimental to the injured worker
C. The department's interpretation of allowable costs in RCW 51.24.060 is entitled to no deference
D. The finding that worker could recover less under Nelson's interpretation of the statute is mathematically erroneous.15
E. If the court must go outside the language of a staute to give it meaning, it is ambiguous
F. The department unilaterally deduced costs from Nelson and

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Page
Bastain v. Good Exp., Inc., 159 Wn.2d 700, 716, 153 P.3d 846 (2007)
Cockle v. Department of Labor and Industries, 142 Wn.2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)
Hansen Baking Co. v. Seattle, 48 Wn.2d 737, 296 P.2d 670 (1956)
Hi-Way Fuel Co. v. Estate of Allyn, 128 Wn.App. 351, 115 P.3d 1031 (Div. 2, 2005)
Hillis v. State, Dept. of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 400, 932 P.2d 139 (1997)13
Nelson v. Department of Labor & Industries, 198 Wn.App. 101, 392 P.3d 1138 (Div. II, 2017)
Pierce County v. State, 66 Wn.2d 728, 404 P.2d 1002 (1965)
<u>Tobin v. Department of Labor & Industries</u> , 169 Wn.2d 396, 239 P.3d 544 (2010
Yakima County v. Yakima County Law Enforcement Officers' Guild, 174 Wn.App 171, 180, 297 P.3d 745 (Div. 2, 2013)
Rules
RCW 51.24.0601,2,6,7,8,9,10, 12, 14, 17
RCW 51.24.0307, 18, 1
RCW 51.12.0101

- I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER. Timothy Nelson was Plaintiff in the Superior Court and Appellant in the Court of Appeals. He is Petitioner here. He asks this court to accept review of the published in part Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition because it impacts every action brought by any injured worker against multiple third parties.
- II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. The Court of Appeals decision was filed March 7, 2017. Its cite is Nelson v.

 Department of Labor & Industries, 198 Wn.App. 101, 392 P.3d 1138 (Div. II, 2017). A motion for reconsideration was timely filed by Petitioner.

 The motion for reconsideration was denied January 29, 2018. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is found in Appendix A at pages 1-28. A copy of the Order Denying Reconsideration is found in Appendix A at page 19.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Is an issue of substantial public interest created where the Court of Appeals upholds the Department of Labor & Industries interpretation of RCW 51.24.060 that, in all cases involving injured workers bringing actions against multiple third parties, the department only has to share in costs directly related to the third party against whom recovery is obtained to the exclusion of other costs incurred by the injured worker in the same litigation?

- B. RCW 51.24.060 states the Department of Labor & Industries is to proportionately share in costs incurred by an injured worker pursuing claims against third parties when calculating its lien against any recovery. The department has unilaterally restricted its cost participation in all cases involving multiple third party defendants to only those costs directly related to the third party against whom recovery is obtained. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to uphold an interpretation of the statute which adds limiting language not present in the statute to the financial detriment of the injured worker?
- C. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to give deference to the Department of Labor & Industries' interpretation of allowable litigation costs where that is not within its special expertise?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Timothy Nelson is an injured worker who pursued third party claims. When Mr. Nelson settled with one of the third party defendants, the Department of Labor & Industries stated the lien statute only required that it share in those costs directly related to the settling defendant and no other costs, even though in the same litigation. The department stated that was how it calculated its lien calculation in all cases involving multiple third parties. Mr. Nelson contends all costs of litigation incurred by him should have been included. This is an issue of first impression.

Mr. Nelson's third party case is founded on a motor vehicle collision. Timothy Nelson was seriously injured on the job when a motor

vehicle operated by a third party ran a stop sign and struck the vehicle he was operating in the course of his employ. CP 107.

Suit was filed against the negligent driver and Pierce County.

Appendix C. The claim against Pierce County eventually dismissed on summary judgment. Id. Subsequent to that dismissal, settlement with the negligent third party driver defendant occurred. CP 142.

The Department of Labor & Industries made a lien calculation related to the settlement. CP 101-2. Mr. Nelson opposed the department's calculation, pointing out that the department had included only costs directly related to the settling defendant in its calculation. CP 100. The department responded by stating that only those costs directly related to Mr. Nelson's claim against the settling negligent driver could be considered in the lien calculation. CP 147, lines 19-26. The department stated costs related to the road design claim against Pierce County or any other third party could not be included. When Mr. Nelson asked where in the WAC this rule could be found, he was told there was no rule, the department was simply applying the statute. CP 149, lines 9-12.

Mr. Nelson told the department he had no problem with the mathematics of the calculation. He stated he did, however, have a problem with the variables used because not all costs were included. CP 100.

Mr. Nelson asked for reconsideration of the lien order on the basis of all costs not being included. CP 100; RP 3, ln., 4-15. Reconsideration was denied.

Nelson then appealed. A hearing before an administrative judge took place. Again the fact that all costs had not been included in the lien calculation was raised. CP 107-8. The administrative judge affirmed the department's lien calculation. CP 38. Nelson filed a Petition for Review with the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. CP 14. Again Nelson raised the issue that not all costs were included in the lien calculation. CP 15. The Board affirmed the department's lien calculation. CP 38. The Petition was denied. CP 10. Mr. Nelson timely appealed to the Pierce County Superior Court. CP 1.

In the superior court the following exchange took place:

Mr. Lopez:

Thank you, Your Honor. I won't spend a lot of time, because, you know, we really don't have any facts that we dispute in this case. We are simply saying that in our opinion the Department has misinterpreted the statute as related to liens, and that, in fact, all costs related to a litigation should be used to adjust the lien, not simply the costs limited to the settling defendant.

We don't believe the statute provides anything that limits costs to just the settling defendant, and we think that limiting costs in that way actually goes against the purpose of the statute and ends up with the Department getting a larger percentage of the settlement than they ought to.

That's basically what our argument is.

The Court: Is there anything in the record that would indicate how

much the other costs were? Was that ever submitted to the Department, or were you submitted just the costs that were

involved in this one lawsuit?

Mr. Lopez: No. What we did is we submitted the costs related to this

because those were the costs that they wanted. They said their costs weren't to be considered. And we said, well,

you ought to consider them, and they weren't.

The Court: But were never submitted because they said we don't want

them.

Mr. Lopez: Correct. Right.

RP 2-3; ln. 14-15.1

The Pierce County Superior Court affirmed the Board's decision and order. CP 185. An appeal to Division II of the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington timely followed. CP 190.

After oral argument the Court of Appeals filed an opinion March 7, 2017, published in part, affirming the Superior Court and Board of Industrial Appeals. Appendix A. Mr. Nelson timely filed a motion for reconsideration March 27, 2017. An order denying the motion for reconsideration was filed January 29, 2018. <u>Id.</u> at 19.

The issue involved herein has never been addressed by any court prior to the opinion issued in the case at bar by the Court of Appeals. It

¹ "RP" in this brief references the Verbatim Report of Proceedings from the Superior Court hearing of April 24, 2015.

impacts every claim pursued by injured workers where multiple third parties are involved.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The department does not have the discretion under RCW 51.24.060 to unilaterally determine which costs of litigation are allowable.

RCW 51.24.060 controls the lien available to the department where an injured worker seeks recovery from third persons. It provides reasonable costs and reasonable attorneys' fees are to be paid proportionately by the injured worker and the department. RCW 51.24.060(1)(a). After proportionate reduction, it provides the injured worker is to be paid 25% of the balance. RCW 51.24.060(1)(b). The remainder is to be paid the department to the extent necessary to reimburse for benefits paid. RCW 51.24.060(1)(c).

The statute emphasizes the department is required to pay its proportionate share of the costs and reasonable attorney fees, up to the extent of benefits paid. RCW 51.24.060(1)(c)(i). The department's proportionate share is determined by dividing the gross recovery amount into the benefits paid amount and multiplying that by the costs and reasonable attorney fees incurred by the injured worker. RCW 51.24.060(1)(c)(ii). The department's lien is determined by subtracting the result of the proportionate share

calculation from the benefits paid amount. RCW 51.24.060(1)(c)(iii). Any remaining balance belongs to the injured worker. RCW 51.24.060(1)(d). "[T]he department and/or self-insurer may require court approval of costs and attorneys' fees or may petition a court for determination of the reasonableness of costs and attorneys' fees;" RCW 51.24.060(1)(a).

Tobin v. Department of Labor & Industries, 169 Wn.2d 396, 239 P.3d 544 (2010) involved interpretation of RCW 51.24.060. In <u>Tobin</u> the department argued it was authorized to include pain and suffering in its distribution calculation. As support the department cited an amendment to the statute which defined "recovery" as "all damages except loss of consortium." RCW 51.24.030(5).

The Supreme Court disagreed with the department. It stated RCW 51.24.030 needed to be read in context with RCW 51.24.060. The Supreme Court stated, if the legislature intended to include pain and suffering in the "recovery" definition, it could have defined "recovery" to include all non-economic damages except for loss of consortium.

Alternatively, the legislature could have expressed which types of damages the statute is meant to provide compensation for by defining "reimburse," which it did not do. <u>Id.</u> at 402.

Similarly, the language of RCW 51.24.060 provides the distribution formula is to include reduction for "costs incurred by the

injured worker." The statute does not include any limitation of "costs incurred by the injured worker." Instead it provides a remedy for the department if it feels costs might be unreasonable. RCW 51.24.060(1)(a). In this case, and all other cases involving multiple third party defendants, the department has unilaterally determined it does not have to bear its proportionate share of any cost not directly related to the settling defendant even though the cost was incurred in the same litigation. CP 147, lines 19-26. The department thus imposes its own limiting definition on "costs incurred by the injured worker" not contained in the statute. It does not have the discretion to impose its limitation of allowable costs.

Hi-Way Fuel Co. v. Estate of Allyn, 128 Wn.App. 351, 115 P.3d 1031 (Div. 2, 2005) addressed the distribution formula contained in RCW 51.24.060. In that case the department unilaterally disallowed certain costs. The Court of Appeals found the department lacked discretion under RCW 51.24.060 to unilaterally deduct certain costs and stated the Board erred in upholding the deduction. The Court of Appeals pointed out that the remedy under the statute was for the department to petition the court if it found certain costs unreasonable; it did not have the discretion to unilaterally determine certain costs were not includable. The Court of Appeals stated this indicated the legislature had "clearly contemplated and provided a mechanism for review of attorney fees and litigation costs." Id.

at 363. It noted: "The department and Hi-Way point to no other authority suggesting a unilateral right to reduce litigation costs." <u>Id</u>.

The department's position is that, where an injured worker brings claims against multiple third parties and settles with one of them, only those costs directly attributable to the claims against the settling defendant may be used to reduce the lien. In the case at bar, for example, Petitioner Nelson brought a claim against Pierce County in the same litigation. The claim was dismissed on summary judgment. The department's position is that no costs related to the Pierce County claim may be considered a costs incurred by the injured worker that it has to share in its lien calculation applicable to the settlement with the negligent driver. CP 147, lines 19-26.

RCW 51.24.060 makes no such cost limitation. The department's interpretation of RCW 51.24.060 limits its share of the costs in a way the statutory language does not. RCW 51.24.060(1)(a) states: "The costs and reasonable attorney fees shall be paid proportionately by the injured worker or beneficiary and the department. . . ." There is no limitation of the department's cost participation to only those costs directly related to the settling third party.

RCW 51.24.060(1)(c)(i) states:

The department and/or self-insurer shall bear its proportionate share of the costs and reasonable attorney fees incurred by the worker. . . .

<u>Id</u>. The plain language requires the department to participate in costs "incurred by the worker" without limitation. There is no language stating its cost participation is limited to only those costs incurred by the injured worker directly related to the settling third party in a multi third party litigation. The department and Court of Appeals have inferred restrictive language to the detriment of the worker not contained in the statute.

Similarly, RCW 51.24.060(1)(c)(i) does not limit the department's cost participation. It states the department is to participate in "the costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the worker. . ." <u>Id</u>. It does not say the department's cost participation, where multiple third party defendants are involved, is limited to "only those costs incurred by the worker related to the settling third party."

The Court of Appeals argues language contained in subparagraph (5) of RCW 51.24.060 supports its position that the department only has to participate in those costs directly related to the settling third party and no other costs of a multi-defendant litigation, despite the three earlier sections in the statute that state the department shall bear its proportionate share of costs "incurred by the worker" with no other limitation. The language the Court of Appeals cites for support in paragraph (5) is: "the costs and

reasonable attorneys' fees associated with the recovery..." Appendix A, Opinion, p. 11. The Court of Appeals has taken ambiguous language and interpreted it against the injured worker. "Associated with the recovery" is not the same as "only those costs directly related to the settling defendant." A very reasonable argument can be made that any cost incurred by an injured worker in a given litigation is associated with the recovery. At best "associated with the recovery" is ambiguous.

The department has unilaterally restricted the language of the statute to the detriment of the injured worker. It has unilaterally limited its share of "reasonable costs" to mean only those costs directly related to the settling third party and has excluded costs incurred in pursuit of other third parties, such as Pierce County. The language of the statute does not support this.

B. The Department is not permitted to interpret RCW 51.24.060 in a way that adds language to the statute detrimental to the injured worker.

The legislature in Title 51 established how it wanted Title 51 construed:

This title shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the . . . economic losses arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment.

RCW 51.12.010. The Washington State Supreme Court has clearly stated the meaning of this provision:

In other words, where reasonable minds can differ over what Title 51 provisions mean. . . the benefit of the doubt belongs to the injured worker.

Cockle v. Department of Labor and Industries, 142 Wn.2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001).

The department takes the position that only costs related to the settling third party can be applied to reduce its lien. RCW 51.24.060 does limit costs in this way. This is an interpretation of the language of the statute that benefits the department and that is detrimental to the injured worker. It should not be allowed.

C. The department's interpretation of allowable costs in RCW 51.24.060 is entitled to no deference.

The department's interpretation of the law is reviewed *de novo*. If a statute is ambiguous, weight is given to an agency's interpretation only if it is within the department's special expertise. An agency cannot by interpretation amend or modify a statute. <u>Hansen Baking Co. v. Seattle</u>, 48 Wn.2d 737, 296 P.2d 670 (1956); <u>Pierce County v. State</u>, 66 Wn.2d 728, 404 P.2d 1002 (1965).

The court has ultimate authority to interpret a statute. Deference is given to an agency's interpretation "only if (1) the particular agency is charged with the administration and enforcement of the statute, (2) the

statute is ambiguous, and (3) the statute falls within the agency's special expertise." <u>Bastain v. Good Exp., Inc.</u>, 159 Wn.2d 700, 716, 153 P.3d 846 (2007). All three requirements must be met for deference to the agency's interpretation of a statute to be given.

The court reviews the department's interpretations of law *de novo*. Yakima County v. Yakima County Law Enforcement Officers' Guild, 174 Wn.App. 171, 180, 297 P.3d 745 (Div. 2, 2013). Deference to agency interpretations is given in the circumstance where "an agency determination is based heavily on factual matters, especially factual matters which are complex, technical, and close to the heart of the agency's expertise." Hillis at 396. The department's unilateral decision to interpret the lien statute to limit offsetting litigation costs to those related to the settling defendant in a litigation involving multiple defendants is neither complex, technical, nor close to the heart of the department's expertise.

What should constitute allowable costs in a litigation does not fall within the department's special expertise. The department's expertise relates to labor and industries. Its special expertise does not relate to what litigation costs ought to be included for lien calculation purposes. The department's interpretation of costs of litigation allowed by the statute is entitled to no deference.

In litigation an injured party frequently has multiple causes of action against multiple defendants for a single injury which must be pursued.

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