FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/30/2018 11:28 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95577-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TIMOTHY NELSON,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM F. HENRY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45148 Office Id. No. 24163 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 621-2225

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

Nelson's arguments lack merit and raise no issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Correct Application of Plain Meaning Analysis Raises No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Under the third-party distribution statute, RCW 51.24.060, the Department shares only in those costs and attorney fees that are associated with a third-party recovery. Nelson has never disputed that his reported costs accurately reflect his expenses relating to his recovery from Wade. CP 15, 100, 107. Instead, he argues that the distribution order understated his costs because it did not include costs he was incurring in other lawsuits against additional third-party defendants. CP 100; Pet. 7-8.

The distribution statute precludes Nelson's argument. RCW 51.24.060 requires that a portion of "any recovery made" be used to pay the costs and attorney fees of the recovery:

- (1) If the injured worker or beneficiary elects to seek damages from the third person, any recovery made shall be distributed as follows:
- (a) The costs and reasonable attorneys' fees shall be paid proportionately by the injured worker or beneficiary and the department and/or self-insurer: PROVIDED, That the department and/or self-insurer may require court approval of costs and attorneys' fees or may petition a court for determination of the reasonableness of costs and attorneys' fees[.]

RCW 51.24.060 (emphasis added). A recovery is "all damages except loss of consortium" or pain and suffering. RCW 51.24.030(5); *Tobin*, 169 Wn.2d at 404. The defendant causes the damages. So the recovery is money obtained from the defendant.

The Department distributes the recovery to account for expenses incurred in obtaining the recovery. RCW 51.24.060(1)'s introductory sentence requires that "any recovery made shall be distributed as follows[.]" It then contains five subparts (a), (b), (c), (d), and (e), that specify how the distribution works. The statute ties each subpart to the introductory language in section (1), connecting the "recovery" to "the costs and reasonable attorney fees" noted in subsection (1)(a). By linking the costs and fees to the particular "recovery" identified in subsection (1), the statute provides that only those costs and attorney fees associated with the recovery are included when calculating the recovery's distribution.

Nevertheless, Nelson asserts that the statute places no limit on the Department's responsibility for a worker's costs, pointing out that RCW 51.24.060(1)(a) requires that "[t]he costs and attorney fees shall be paid proportionately" and that RCW 51.24.060(1)(c) refers to "costs incurred by the injured worker." Pet. 7-9. But Nelson reads this statutory language out of context. He fails to note that the costs and attorney fees noted in these subsections are linked to the particular recovery being distributed. Contrary to his suggestion, it is not all costs and attorney fees incurred by the worker that are paid proportionately but, rather, only those costs and fees associated with the recovery to be distributed.

RCW 51.24.060(5) confirms this analysis. It requires that "the person to whom any recovery is paid . . . advise the department or self-insurer of the fact and amount of such recovery [and] the costs and reasonable attorneys' fees *associated with the recovery*." RCW 51.24.060(5) (emphasis added). This requirement would be meaningless if costs and fees from other, unrelated lawsuits that did not result in the recovery were also to be included when calculating a distribution. As this statutory provision shows, unless the injured worker's litigation costs are "associated with the recovery," the Department cannot properly include such costs when calculating the recovery's distribution.

Nelson now asserts for the first time that the language "associated with the recovery" is somehow ambiguous, contending that this phrase could mean all "costs in multi-defendant litigation" and not simply costs relating to a settling defendant. Pet. 10-11. He did not raise this argument below, and the Court should not consider it. RAP 2.5(a). Nor is Nelson's proposed interpretation a reasonable reading of the statutory language. Indeed, his strained interpretation is foreclosed by RCW 51.24.060(1), which links "the costs and reasonable attorney fees" to the particular recovery being distributed. A recovery is defined as "all damages except loss of consortium" or pain and suffering. RCW 51.24.030(5); *Tobin*, 169 Wn.2d at 404. Damages are money acquired from resolving a specific

claim against a specific party. Thus, as the Court of Appeals properly determined, associated costs are those costs "spent on resolved claims that triggered the recovery." *Nelson*, 198 Wn. App. at 112. Nelson conceded as much by reporting to the Department only those costs he expended in making the recovery from Wade.²

Nelson does not dispute that he accurately reported all of his expenses in obtaining that recovery. CP 15, 100, 107. Because his costs in litigation against other third-party defendants did not relate to this recovery, the Department did not have to delay issuing the distribution order until these costs were known with finality. Such costs would not be properly included when calculating the distribution of the recovery from Wade. Under RCW 51.24.060, the Department shares only in the costs and reasonable attorney fees associated with a recovery.

By electing to seek damages on his own, with his own attorney,
Nelson assumed responsibility for the financing of his case. This was
Nelson's choice. Where a worker wishes to avoid the financial risk of
bringing such litigation, the worker may assign the third party claims to

² Contrary to Nelson's suggestion, the Department often pays costs that are related in part to dismissed claims in multi-defendant lawsuits. This is because many of the worker's costs in multi-defendant lawsuits—e.g. investigation expenses, filing fees, deposition transcript costs, and expert fees—relate both to the dismissed claims and to a claim that resulted in a successful recovery. Ultimately, the question is whether a given litigation cost is associated with a claim that resulted in a recovery. Here, there is no indication that the Department excluded any such cost in calculating the distribution of Nelson's recovery from Wade.

the Department. RCW 51.24.050(1). But in such circumstances, it is the Department that controls the litigation, determining whether to prosecute or compromise the claims in its discretion. *Id.* Although the worker avoids potential legal costs, the worker must accede to the Department's choices in what claims to pursue. *See Burnett v. Dep't of Corr.*, 187 Wn. App. 159, 172-77, 349 P.3d 42 (2015). Unlike the situation here, in cases where the Department fronts the costs of litigation, the Legislature has granted it authority to direct such litigation, including the ability to make fiscally responsible decisions about costs.

The Department's responsibility to share in litigation costs is based on principles of subrogation and fairness.³ See Ravsten v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 108 Wn.2d 143, 149-50, 736 P.2d 265 (1987). Because a third party recovery is used to reimburse the Department, it is only fair that the Department join in costs that resulted in repayment. See Peterson v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Ill., 95 Wn. App. 254, 264, 976 P.2d 632 (1999) (discussing principles of equitable subrogation). By contrast, unsuccessful litigation does not result in any reimbursement to the Department. As the third party distribution statute makes clear, where litigation does not

³ While subrogation principles are useful for understanding the Department's responsibility for costs and fees, the nature of this responsibility is ultimately a question of statute. The Department's right to reimbursement from a third party recovery is a statutory right that is enforceable as a statutory lien rather than an equitable subrogation interest. *Rhoad*, 102 Wn.2d at 427.

reimburse the Department's accident and medical funds for the benefits it has paid, the Department is not required to join in the costs of such litigation.

B. The Department Excluded No Costs Submitted by Nelson, and This Court Should Reject His Attempt to Supplement the Record

In his petition for review, Nelson makes no mention of his previous arguments that the Department should delay issuing its distribution order. He likely recognizes that they are unsupported by the statute, which requires that any recovery be distributed. RCW 51.24.060(1). Instead, Nelson suggests that the Department improperly excluded costs relating to a road design claim against Pierce County. Pet. 3, 8-10. Relying on *Hi-Way Fuel Co. v. Estate of Allyn*, 128 Wn. App. 351, 115 P.3d 1031 (2005), he argues that the Department lacked discretion to "unilaterally deduct" his costs in pursuing this claim. Pet. 8. Nelson misstates both the record and the law.

Hi-Way Fuel does not apply here. There, the injured worker submitted a cost bill to the Department that listed her expenses associated with a third-party recovery as \$76,818.90. Hi-Way Fuel, 128 Wn. App. at 355. Before calculating the distribution order, the Department deducted several hundred dollars from the cost bill that related to internal copying and postage. Id. The worker appealed, and the court reversed, holding that

the Department could not unilaterally reduce the worker's litigation costs in this way. *Hi-Way Fuel*, 128 Wn. App. at 362-63. It explained that the Department must petition a court to determine the reasonableness of a worker's reported costs and that the Department lacked discretion under RCW 51.24.060 to deduct a portion of the worker's costs for internal copying and postage. *Id.* at 363

Here, unlike in *Hi-Way Fuel*, the Department deducted no costs reported by Nelson. The Department included all of Nelson's reported costs when calculating the distribution of his recovery from Wade. CP 77-78, 90-92, 96, 100. While Nelson now suggests that the Department refused to consider costs relating to his Pierce County claim, there is no indication he submitted any such costs to the Department. He did not mention this claim in his request for reconsideration or in his correspondence with the Department. CP 76-79, 100. His summary judgment motion at the Board did not reference it; nor did Nelson file any declarations to support that motion. CP 40, 107-11.

The first reference to the Pierce County claim was at oral argument at the Board, where Nelson's counsel stated that the superior court had dismissed the claim (CP 142), and asked whether it was the Department's position that costs relating to a dismissed claim should not be included when calculating a distribution order. CP 145-46. Even then, Nelson did

not suggest that the Department rejected any submitted costs. *See* CP 146. Nothing in the record indicates that the Department excluded any costs relating to the Pierce County claim when distributing Nelson's recovery from Wade. Because the only reference to this claim was the unsworn statement of Nelson's counsel, there is no record about the Pierce County claim or any costs linked to it. *See Green v. A.P.C. (Am. Pharm. Co.)*, 136 Wn.2d 87, 100, 960 P.2d 912 (1998) ("Argument of counsel does not constitute evidence").⁴

Nelson now attaches new documents to his petition for review, seeking to support his shifting arguments. *See* Pet., App. C. But again, these documents provide no indication that the Department rejected any submitted costs. Without extraordinary circumstances, appellate courts consider only evidence adduced in the proceedings below. *See* RAP 9.11(a); *see* RCW 51.52.115 (court considers evidence only in the Board record). Nelson does not try to prove that he meets the 6-part test in RAP 9.11(a). This Court should decline to consider the newly submitted evidence and ignore arguments based on evidence not in the record.

⁴ The Court should not consider Nelson's arguments about the Pierce County claim. Not only are they unsupported by any record, he did not raise them at the Department level, and the order did not address them. *See Hanquet v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 75 Wn. App. 657, 662, 879 P.2d 326 (1994).

Finally, there is no indication that the costs in the Pierce County claim were associated with Nelson's recovery from Wade. In *Hi-Way Fuel*, the court's decision presupposed that all costs and attorney fees reported by the worker were associated with the recovery. *See Hi-Way Fuel*, 128 Wn. App. at 362. The court held that the Department could not unilaterally deduct costs it considered unreasonable. *Id.* By contrast, here, the Department has never contested the reasonableness of Nelson's costs. Instead, it affirmed its distribution order because Nelson agreed that he had reported all costs associated with his recovery from Wade. *See* CP 100. And because only costs associated with a recovery are properly included when calculating a distribution, the Department properly included only those reported costs.

The Department deducted no costs reported by Nelson. As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, *Hi-Way Fuel* does not apply. This Court should deny review.

C. Nelson's Other Arguments Are Also Without Merit and Raise No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The Court of Appeals did not improperly defer to the Department in reaching its decision. Nelson asserts that the court gave undue deference to the Department's interpretation of RCW 51.24.060, arguing that this statute does not "fall within the department's special expertise." Pet. 13.

But courts give deference to the Department's interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act, including the third-party distribution statute.

Jones v. City of Olympia, 171 Wn. App. 614, 621, 287 P.3d 687 (2012).

As the agency that administers the Act, the Department's interpretation is accorded great weight. Id.; see also Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Slaugh, 177 Wn. App. 439, 452, 312 P.3d 676 (2013). Nelson's assertion to the contrary is simply wrong.

More to the point, the Court of Appeals did not give deference to the Department here. Instead, it found the statute unambiguous. A court does not rely on agency interpretations where the meaning of a statute is clear. *Slaugh*, 177 Wn. App. at 452. The Court of Appeals looked to the plain language of the statute, examining "the meaning of the provisions in question as well as the context of the statute and related statutes." *Nelson*, 198 Wn. App. at 110 (citing *Birgen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn. App. 851, 857, 347 P.3d 503 (2015)). Contrary to Nelson's assertion, because the third-party distribution statute is unambiguous, the court gave no weight to any party's interpretation.

For this same reason, the court correctly determined that the Industrial Insurance Act's rule of liberal construction does not apply.

Nelson asserts that the Court must interpret RCW 51.24.060 to his benefit.

Pet. 11-12. But the rule of liberal construction is not triggered unless a

court must resolve ambiguities in the Act. *Harris v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993). Here, the plain language of RCW 51.24.060 provides that only costs and fees associated with a recovery are subject to distribution of that recovery. Because the statute's meaning is clear, the rule of liberal construction does not apply.

Finally, Nelson objects to the court's determination that his 25 percent share of the recovery could be reduced if the Department included additional costs in the distribution. Pet. 15-17. But the court was merely responding to Nelson's assertion—made without explanation—that including only associated costs and fees would result "in Nelson receiving less than the twenty-five percent net recovery RCW 51.24.060 guarantees him." Appellant's Br. 14. As the court pointed out, this statement is simply not true. Because the Department deducts costs and fees before it calculates a worker's 25 percent share, including additional costs in the distribution formula would reduce the worker's share. *Nelson*, 198 Wn. App. at 114-15. While there may be other financial implications of including additional, unrelated costs, the court correctly rejected Nelson's contention that failing to include such costs would reduce his share of the recovery.

Nelson's arguments lack merit and raise no issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the plain language of RCW 51.24.060 requires the Department to pay a proportionate share of only those costs and attorney fees associated with a recovery. The court's straightforward analysis raises no issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.